2008 KA564-COAT

CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PERSONS

The undersigned counsel of record certifies that the following listed persons have an interest in the outcome of this case. These representations are made in order that the justices of the Supreme Court and/or the Court of Appeals may evaluate possible disqualification or recusal:

1.	Clinton Wyatt Nolan	Appellant/Defendant
2.	Honorable James D. Franks	Attorney of Record for Appellant/Defendant
3.	Honorable Susan Brewer	Assistant District Attorney
4.	Honorable John Champion	District Attorney
5.	Honorable Robert P. Chamberlin	Desoto County Circuit Court Judge

JAMES D. FRANKS, Attorney for Appellant/Defendant

STATEMENT OF ISSUES

ISSUE I: Did the Trial Court err in failing to grant the Defendant's Motion for Directed

Verdict based upon the State's failure to prove each of the elements of the crime of manslaughter
in its case in chief, specifically "heat of passion"?

ISSUE II: Was the Trial Court's finding that the State met its burden of showing, beyond a reasonable doubt, that the Appellant/Defendant was sane at the time of the shooting against the overwhelming weight of the evidence?

ISSUE III. Is the *M'Naghten* standard antiquated and simplistic, and does it fail to accomplish its intended purpose of exempting from criminal responsibility those defendants who are unable to form the requisite intent for a particular crime due to mental illness?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This cause originated in the Circuit Court of Desoto County, Mississippi wherein Desoto County Circuit Court Judge, Honorable Robert P. Chamberlin, found the Appellant/Defendant guilty of manslaughter, and accepted the State's proposed Findings of Fact as its own, on January 7, 2008. (R. 166-167; R.E. 5-17). On March 5, 2008, Judge Chamberlin sentenced the Appellant/Defendant to a term of seven (7) years in the custody of the Mississippi Department of Corrections, followed by thirteen (13) years of post-release supervision. (R. 184-187, R.E. 18-21). The Appellant/Defendant's Motion for J.N.O.V. or New Trial was overruled. (R. 188; R.E. 22-24). The Appellant/Defendant, Clinton Wyatt Nolan, herein appeals the judgment and sentence of the Desoto County Circuit Court.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

The Appellant/Defendant, Clinton Wyatt Nolan (hereinafter referred to as "Nolan"), was indicted by the November 2006 Grand Jury of Desoto County, Mississippi for the crime of manslaughter. (R. 8). Nolan waived his right to a jury trial (R. 74), and the bench trial of this matter was held on December 11, 2007, wherein Nolan asserted an insanity defense. (T. 1).

At the beginning of the trial, the parties stipulated that, on May 26, 2006, in DeSoto County, Mississippi, Nolan did shoot and kill his father, Donald Nolan, with a handgun. The parties further stipulated to the authenticity and admission of certain evidence, as specified below. (R. 128).

First, the parties stipulated to the authenticity and admission of the copy of the tape recorded 911 call made by Nolan to the Desoto County Sheriff's Department and the transcript of said call. On May 26, 2006 at 2:45 A.M., Nolan made a 911 call from the Nolan residence advising that he had shot his father. Although Nolan is able to tell the dispatcher what type of gun he shot his father with and appears able to follow the dispatcher's instructions, it is clear that Nolan is confused about

what happened. Nolan states, "I can't believe I did that." (Transcript of 911 Call, Page 1 of 8).

During the course of the 911 call, the dispatcher asks the victim, Nolan's father, what happened:

Dispatch:

Why did he shoot you?

Nolan's father:

He was having [medicine] or [medical] or [mental] problems.*

(Transcript of 911 Call, Page 3 of 8).

Dispatch:

OK. Tell him to take off his shirt and go outside with his hands up.

Nolan's father:

Listen to me, OK? He is having an episode because the medicine's

messed up.

Dispatch:

Ok, Sir. Is he there with you?

Nolan's father:

Yea. [He's in his own little world right now] or [He's the only one in

the room right now].*

(Transcript of 911 Call, Page 5 of 8).

[* The State and the Defense were not able to determine which words were being spoken, and the Trial Court made no specific finding.]

The parties also stipulated to the authenticity and admission of copy of the tape recorded interview with Nolan conducted by Commander Mark Blackson of the Desoto County Sheriff's Department at 7:27 A.M. on May 26, 2006, approximately 4.75 hours after the shooting, as well as the transcript of said interview. During the interview, Nolan states that his medicine "make[s] me feel funny." (Transcript of Interview, Page 4 of 11). However, it is clear that Nolan is not lucid through much of the interview, as he answers questions inappropriately and makes incoherent and confused statements, including but not limited to, the following:

Nolan:

I'm learning to deal with the new me. (UNTRANSCRIBABLE).

Blackson:

Dealing with the new you?

Nolan:

(UNTRANSCRIBABLE) I'd know if this is going to require a lawyer or not.

Blackson:

You mean dealing with the new you?

Nolan:

Yea. (UNTRANSCRIBABLE) requesting the one that was all ready there

that's going away to get a new one comes.

Blackson:

Ok.

Nolan:

(UNTRANSCRIBABLE) I guess that's what happened. I don't know.

Anything specific about it. Lawyer, I know that.

(Transcript of Interview, Page 2 of 11).

Nolan: Well I had something that resembled sleep last night. A little but, uh. When

I got (UNTRANSCRIBABLE). Poof, (UNTRANSCRIBABLE) truth serum.

Blackson: Who give you some truth serum?

Nolan:

I think they must have.

Blackson:

Who did?

Nolan:

Somebody did. I felt funny (UNTRANSCRIBABLE). I think that, I think

they did; I don't know. That's what (UNTRANSCRIBABLE).

Blackson:

Do you remember who it was that give it to you? No, but I'm sure it was somebody in my room.

Nolan: Blackson:

In you're?

Nolan:

Bedroom.

Blackson:

In you're bedroom?

Nolan:

Yea (UNTRANSCRIBABLE). What.

Blackson:

Uhu. How did they do it? How did they give it to you?

Nolan:

I don't really remember, (UNTRANSCRIBABLE) pill or liquid. Vaguely

remember. (UNTRANSCRIBABLE).

Blackson:

Was somebody asking you questions?

Nolan:

They must have, (UNTRANSCRIBABLE) what are they, uh.

Blackson:

Let me back up a little. When did this happen

Nolan:

Today, or must have been (UNTRANSCRIBABLE).

Blackson:

You're not too sure when it occurred. You know what today is? What day it

is?

Nolan:

(UNTRANSCRIBABLE) watch.

Blackson:

If you had to guess what day of the week it is, what day would you guess it?

Blackson:

Clinton are you?

Nolan:

(UNTRANSCRIBABLE) weekday or weekend. I don't know, I don't even

know.

Blackson:

You don't know what day of the week it is.

Nolan:

Sure, tired and groggy.

Blackson:

You're tired and groggy. Clinton what's going through you're mind right

now? What are you thinking.

Nolan:

Nothing real, frustrated in my mind. Not sure what to think. I, terrible, I

mean,

Blackson:

You feel terrible physically terrible.

Nolan:

I guess I should, but I don't know, I don't know, I mean. I really should eh,

lawyer,

Blackson:

You want a lawyer?

Nolan:

Yea, not that I don't feel any remorse (UNTRANSCRIBABLE) I did after

I du, I shot him. I just felt so horrible. I didn't run away.

(Transcript of Interview, Pages 4-5 of 11).

The parties also stipulated to the authenticity and admission of Nolan's Lakeside medical/psychiatric records, where Nolan was placed immediately upon his release on bond. Among other proof, these records indicate that Nolan was admitted to Lakeside on June 8, 2006 (approximately 13 days after the shooting and immediately following his release from the Desoto County Jail) and was discharged on August 7, 2006 after therapy and treatment with psychotropic medications for approximately two (2) months. These records further indicate that, on admission and shortly thereafter, Nolan reported that, when he shot his father, he was responding to internal voices and that "they (the voices) are stronger than God". He further indicated that "the UN might have had a hand in this... the United Nations might have been involved."

Next, the parties stipulated to the authenticity and admission of Nolan's school records from Northwest Mississippi Community College and Crichton College. The school records indicated that while Nolan was a good student in many ways, he suffered significant psychological and social problems. (R. 78-118).

Lastly, the parties stipulated to the authenticity and admission of the autopsy report of Nolan's father, Don Nolan, indicating that he died as a result of a gunshot wound to the chest. (R. 29-54).

After the stipulations were submitted to the Court, the State rested its case in chief. (T. 10, L. 18-20). Nolan made a Motion for Directed or Judgment on the Facts and Law, which was denied by the Trial Court. (T. 10, L. 29 - T. 11, L. 14).

In support of his insanity defense, Nolan called Dr. Robert M. Hoehn, M.D. to testify. Dr. Hoehn testified that he had treated Nolan for ten (10) years for Asperger's Syndrome related symptoms, depression, and A.D.D.. He stated that Asperger's Syndrome is a disorder within the Autism spectrum subjecting the patient to inflexible and restricted, routine, and stereotyped behavior

patterns and interests, plus significant social impairments. While Nolan was of above average intelligence (T. 30, L. 11-14), he is also likely unable to empathize with others and unable to communicate socially. He testified that Nolan had exhibited no previous indicators for psychosis. (T.15, L. 27 - T. 16, L. 4).

Dr. Hoehn testified that Nolan had been having problems with increased depression for two (2) months previous to the shooting, and his medication was switched from Paxil to Zoloft during that time. He testified that he was contacted by Nolan's parents two (2) days prior to the shooting. They advised that Nolan was having problems which they believed necessitated a doctor's visit (mild agitation, preoccupation with guilt, and sleep problems). Dr. Hoehn was unable to see Nolan at that time, but placed Nolan on Klonopin, which he advised can be "disinhibiting", within approximately 24 hours prior to the shooting. (T. 16, L. 5 - T. 17, L. 6).

Dr. Hoehn testified that he learned of the shooting through a newspaper report, and immediately contacted Nolan's family. He stated that he was contacted by the nursing staff at the Desoto County Jail on May 28, 2006, who informed him that Nolan was having auditory and visual hallucinations and injuring himself and others while in his cell, a fact confirmed by the testimony of Jail Nurse, Margaret Cashion. Dr. Hoehn then prescribed Seroquel and took Nolan off of the Klonopin and Focalin he had been on. Dr. Hoehn also testified that he went to see Nolan at the jail within 2-3 days of the shooting. At that time, he confirmed the jail nursing staff's report of Nolan's psychosis with auditory and visual hallucinations. He testified that Nolan was "seeing people in his cell" when no one was there, was hearing voices, was "unable to distinguish what was real and what wasn't", and was agitated and "tangential in his thought process, which means he was confused." (T.18,L. 2 - T. 19, L. 17).

Dr. Hoehn testified that Nolan was released from the jail on June 8, 2006, thirteen (13) days

after the shooting, and immediately placed at Lakeside Hospital where Dr. Hoehn was his treating physician. While at Lakeside, Nolan was diagnosed with schizoaffective disorder, depressive type, which Dr. Hoehn described as a cross between schizophrenia and bipolar disorder. (T. 20, L. 27 - T. 21, L. 6).

Dr. Hoehn testified that Nolan was apparently becoming psychotic the week prior to the shooting, and that, based on his conversations with the Nolan family prior to the shooting and his evaluations of Nolan at the jail and at Lakeside, it was his professional opinion that Nolan was not able to appreciate the nature and quality of his actions on the night he fatally shot his father, and that Nolan suffered from a psychotic break from reality on that night. (T. 25, L. 13 -24). He stated that, during periods of psychosis, a schizoaffective person would become very irrational, respond to stimulus, not think in their normal clear state, and make decisions based on psychosis. (T. 22, L. 25-29). He further testified that Nolan's Asperger's Syndrome would exacerbate his schizoaffective disorder symptoms and make him even less likely than a normal person to comprehend that he was having a psychotic break. (T. 19, L. 18 - T. 20, L.5; T. 25, L. 10-24).

Dr. Hoehn further testified that Nolan was treated with medications and therapy over his two (2) month stay at Lakeside, that Nolan has improved significantly since his admission, and that Nolan continues his medications and therapy with Dr. Hoehn on a regular basis. Dr. Hoehn further testified that, in his professional opinion, Nolan was no longer a danger to himself or others. (T. 26, L. 10 - T. 28, L. 28).

Nolan then called Dr. Joseph C. Angelillo, Ph.D. to testify. He stated that he performed a *M'Naghten* evaluation on Nolan on June 30, 2006, approximately one (1) month after the shooting. He spent one-half (½) day interviewing Nolan, reviewed Nolan's social history, as well as the records of Dr. Hoehn and Dr. Robert Serino, Ph.D., who also tested Nolan, and also spoke to Dr.

Hoehn during the course of his evaluation. (T. 38, L. 17 - T. 39, L. 5).

He testified that he has performed hundreds of M'Naghten evaluations for both the prosecution and the defense as a regular part of his practice. He further testified that ninety-eight percent (98%) of the people that he evaluates are sane within the meaning of M'Naghten. Dr. Angelillo stated that, based on his interview of Nolan and review of the pertinent documentation, not only was Nolan not able to understand the nature and quality of his actions at the time of the shooting, but that this is "not even a close call". (T. 44, L. 20 - T. 45, L. 8). He stated that, in his expert medical opinion, Nolan experienced a "break" from reality and was definitely not able to appreciate the nature and quality of his actions at the time he fatally shot his father. He testified that, at the time of the incident, Nolan was highly disturbed as to his thinking and emotional processes, exhibiting paranoid, confused, ruminative, and idiosyncratic thinking, and experiencing auditory command hallucinations and depression. His opinion was thus, due to the combination of Nolan's psychosis (including chaotic and ruminative thoughts and hallucinations) and Nolan's Asperger's (which caused Nolan to have very limited empathy skills, making it difficult for Nolan to step outside himself to understand how things impact others, and making everything appear to Nolan to be equally important). He stated that schizoaffective disorder would be much worse for an Asperger's patient, because the poor coping skills present in an Asperger's patient would exacerbate the consequences of the psychosis, and make it harder for him to handle command hallucinations than a normal person. (T. 43, L. 12 - T. 44, L. 19; T. 45, L. 28 - T. 46, L. 2).

Regarding Dr. Hoehn's statement that Nolan had shown no previous indicators of psychosis, Dr. Angelillo testified that although the onset of psychosis is normally insidious and slow developing, due to the nature of Nolan's Asperger's, even if his psychosis had been "brewing" for a period of time, he would have been unlikely to notice it and/or understand it, much less

communicate it to another. (T. 49, L. 25 - T. 50, L. 29). Furthermore, he acknowledged that symptoms and effects of psychosis can dramatically change from moment to moment, noting that Nolan's affect shortly after the shooting was reported to be labile, defined as "up and down, easily influenced, . . . one can be calm one second and then begin to act out or get very emotional." (T. 41, L. 5-17).

Lay witness, Lynn Ford, next testified that she had known the Nolan family for years from church, and had always know Nolan and his father to have a very special and close relationship. (T. 52, L. 10 - T. 53, L. 9). She testified that she visited Nolan in jail a few days after the shooting, and that, at that time, Nolan was confused and talking to the wall during the visit, stating "No, I'm not going to do that. No, I don't want to do that." When she asked him what he was saying, he said, "Do you hear them?" and "I don't want to hurt you." He also asked her once if she knew that his father had died. When she told him "yes", he said, "They said I did it." (T. 54, L. 12 - T. 56, L. 21). Ford further testified she has had repeated contact with Nolan since his release from Lakeside, and that she is not now afraid of Nolan and did not feel that he was currently a danger to her or the community. (T. 56, L. 25-29).

Lay witness, Ron Donahoo, testified that he has known Nolan's family for years, and he had also always known the relationship between Nolan and his father to be good. (T. 62, L. 13-21). He stated that he had a telephone conversation with Nolan's father within a few days prior to the shooting. He testified that Nolan's father told him that Nolan was having problems sleeping and asked for prayers for Nolan and the family. (T. 62, L. 26 - T. 63, L. 11). Donahoo further testified that he visited Nolan at Lakeside Hospital within a few weeks of the shooting and that Nolan acted agitated and frustrated and "just different" than he had ever seen him act before. (T. 63, L. 12-27). He testified that he had seen Nolan since his release from Lakeside and found his behavior to be

"nothing like it was at Lakeside" and more like "the [Nolan] he always knew". He testified that he did not feel that Nolan was a danger, and would live in the same house with him and trust him with his children. (T. 64, L. 11 - T. 65, L. 6).

Lay witness, J. Hickman, testified that he had also known the Nolan family for many years and that Nolan and his father had a "tight father/son relationship" that was "closer than most". (T. 66, L. 23 - T. 67, L. 2). He testified that he spoke to the victim, Nolan's father, on the telephone the day of the shooting. Nolan's father told him that every four (4) to six (6) years, Nolan develops a tolerance to his behavioral medications which requires changing them. Nolan's father told him that this transition had been going remarkably well until a week before when things began to deteriorate steadily and quickly to the point that Nolan has not slept for at least two(2) nights – maybe three (3), was agitated, and "not really himself". Nolan's parents were staying up in shifts with Nolan and were extremely concerned and tired. Nolan's father asked for prayers for the family. (T. 67, L. 27 - T.69, L. 1).

He testified that he saw Nolan in jail a day or so after the shooting and found him to be fidgety, agitated, incoherent, confused, and "like [he'd] never seen him before". Although Nolan expressed remorse for the death of his father, he did not express knowledge about what had happened. (T. 70, L. 8 - T. 71, L. 22). Hickman also testified that he had repeated contact with Nolan since his release from Lakeside, and that he was not afraid of Nolan, nor did he feel that Nolan was a danger to him, his children, or the community. (T. 69, L. 18 - T. 70, L. 4).

Next, lay witness, Wendell Sanders, also testified to the close relationship between Nolan and his father. He further testified that he had lunch with Nolan and his father on the day of the shooting. He testified that Nolan was different that day than he had ever seen him before in the years he had known him. He testified that Nolan was normally friendly and talkative, but that day, he was

withdrawn, almost non-responsive, seemed disturbed, had a defensive posture, and grunted in response to questions. When Nolan left the table, his father advised Sanders that he was very concerned because there was a problem with Nolan's medications, that he had not slept for 3-4 days, that Nolan's condition was getting worse, and that they currently had a call in to the doctor to address the issue. (T. 73, L. 19 - T. 75, L. 24)

Lastly, lay witness, Margaret Cashion, a nurse at the Desoto County Jail during Nolan's incarceration, was called to testify. She testified that she was called to Defendant's holding cell on May 29, 2006, three (3) days after the shooting, to evaluate him. He was agitated and had hit an officer in the nose. She observed that he continued to be very aggressive, agitated, and confused, and that he was hitting his head on the concrete wall. She also testified that Nolan appeared to be responding to internal stimuli, as he was talking to the wall. He asked her, "What am I doing in here? I haven't done anything." (T. 78, L. 14 - T. 79, L. 22). At her direction, the medical unit called Dr. Hoehn, Nolan's doctor, to obtain psychotropic medications for him, and his behavior became more normal after he began taking those medications. (T. 81, L. 5 - T. 82, L. 2).

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