IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

CLINTON WYATT NOLAN

APPELLANT

VS.

NO. 2008-KA-0564

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

APPELLEE

BRIEF FOR THE APPELLEE

APPELLEE DOES NOT REQUEST ORAL ARGUMENT

JIM HOOD, ATTORNEY GENERAL

BY: JOHN R. HENRY

SPECIAL ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL

MISSISSIPPI BAR NO

OFFICE OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL POST OFFICE BOX 220 JACKSON, MS 39205-0220 TELEPHONE: (601) 359-3680

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

- 1. THAT THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR IN REFUSING TO GRANT A DIRECTED VERDICT
- 2. THAT THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR IN FINDING THAT THE APPELLANT DID NOT MEET THE *M'NAGHTEN* STANDARD
- 3. THAT THE THIRD ASSIGNMENT OF ERROR IS NOT BEFORE THE COURT

ARGUMENT

1. THAT THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR IN REFUSING TO GRANT A DIRECTED VERDICT

At the conclusion of the State's case - in - chief, the defense moved for a directed verdict. It did not, however, assign specific grounds for such relief. The trial court then denied relief on the defense motion. (R. Vol. 3, pp. 10 - 11). The defense then produced its case and the State presented a rebuttal case. At the conclusion of all of the evidence in the case, there was no renewal of the motion for a directed verdict. (R. Vol. 3, pp. 123 - 126). Because this was a bench trial, there was no request for a peremptory instruction. There was no motion for a directed verdict made at the conclusion of the defense case. (R. Vol. 3, pg. 82).

It is well settled that where an accused moves for a directed verdict at the conclusion of

the State's case-in-chief and then presents his own case, after relief on that motion has been denied, his motion for a directed verdict is waived. To preserve the issue of sufficiency of the evidence, the accused must renew his motion, either by renewing his motion for a directed verdict at the conclusion of the evidence or by requesting a peremptory instruction. *Hubbard v. State*, 938 So.2d 287, 292 (Miss. Ct. App. 2006).

It is also well settled that an accused must specifically state the reason or reasons he believes the State's evidence was insufficient. A trial court does not commit error where it overrules a motion for a directed verdict where specific grounds are not alleged in support of it.

Moore v. State, 958 So.2d 824 (Miss. Ct. App. 2007).

The Appellant, in his "Motion for J.N.OV. Or New Trial," did assert that the State failed to prove the elements of heat of passion manslaughter, and, specifically, that the State failed to prove "heat of passion." (R. Vol. 2, pg. 181). We submit, though, that under *Hubbard* and *Page* v. State, 990 So.2d 760 (Miss. 2008), this was too late.

In *Page*, the defense made a motion for a directed verdict at the conclusion of the State's case - in - chief, but did not attempt to renew the motion at the conclusion of all of the evidence until after the jury had been instructed and the case submitted for decision. The Court held that the attempt to renew the motion was untimely and that the issue was for that reason barred for review. *Page*, at 762.

It is true that the Court noted that the defense in *Page* either failed to file a motion for judgment notwithstanding the verdict or failed to see to it that it was included in the record on appeal. Here there was such a motion. However, this is of no consequence. The Court in *Page* clearly held that the question of sufficiency of the evidence was waived by the failure to properly renew the original motion for a directed verdict. It did not hold that this waiver would have been

somehow cured had a motion for judgment notwithstanding the verdict been filed.

This is not surprising. Even had there been a motion for judgment notwithstanding the verdict in *Page*, any such motion could not have cured the fact that the issue was waived for having failed to properly preserve it. It would have been illogical had the Court held, in effect, that a sufficiency of the evidence issue, waived by the failure to timely present it, would be somehow revived for no reason other than the simple fact that it was raised again after the waiver. This would be particularly so where, as here, there was no other evidence of guilt presented between the time the original motion for a directed verdict should have been renewed and the time the motion for judgment notwithstanding the verdict was filed.¹

¹ But then, there is something illogical about the entire process of challenging the sufficiency of the evidence of guilt as that process exists now. As we have pointed out above, where an accused moves for a directed verdict at the conclusion of the State's case - in - chief, and then presents his own case, the motion is waived. So far, so good. But it does not seem to make much sense to say that, where the defense renews its motion at the conclusion of all of the evidence, the waiver of the original motion somehow disappears, the trial court to consider the all of the evidence in the case. Why say that the original motion is waived only later to say that it is not? This is a peculiar thing since, if the State's evidence is insufficient, that fact will or should be apparent at the time of the first motion for a directed verdict. Evidence produced by the defense subsequent to the original motion for a directed verdict may and often does conflict with the State's evidence, but the fact of conflict in the evidence hardly means that the accused is entitled to a directed verdict, only a jury verdict. In any event, nothing the defense could produce in the way of evidence could effectively strike evidence of guilt previously produced by the State. Why a trial court should consider anew the question of the sufficiency of the State's evidence, which issue has been in any event waived by the production of defense evidence, has never, to our knowledge, been explained.

Even more curious is the motion for judgment notwithstanding the verdict, a superfluous motion if ever there has been one, something to the body of the law akin to the appendix in a human body. It would not seem to add a single thing of procedural or substantive significance to the question of whether the evidence was sufficient. It may not allege specific grounds not earlier raised; there is no evidence for it to address that would not have been addressed in the renewed motion. But, notwithstanding what to us appears to be a peculiar process for challenging the sufficiency of the evidence, it does seem clear that it is the renewed motion for a directed verdict that is the essential motion, where an accused has presented his own case, and not the motion for judgment notwithstanding the verdict. The entire function of a motion for a directed verdict is to direct a verdict of acquittal.

In addition to having waived the sufficiency of the evidence claim generally, the Appellant also waived his specific claim that the State failed to produce sufficient evidence on the "heat of passion" element of this form of manslaughter. This is because he never raised it until the motion for judgment notwithstanding the verdict. As we have said above, the appellate courts have held that the failure to allege in particular where the State's proof is not sufficient amounts to a waiver of the allegations.

The trial court did not err in overruling the motion for a directed verdict made at the conclusion of the State's case - in - chief. The Appellant did not assert any specific ground for that relief. Once the defense presented a case - in - chief, it waived its allegation that the State's evidence, at the conclusion of the State's case - in - chief, was insufficient. Because it did not renew the motion for a directed verdict at the conclusion of all of the evidence, the defense waived any complaint about the sufficiency of the evidence. *Page v. State*, 990 So.2d 760 (Miss 2008).

Assuming for argument that the First Assignment of Error is before the Court, we adopt the trial court's detailed "Findings of Fact" and "Conclusions" (R. Vol. 2, pp. 170 - 180) and the trial court's ruling from the bench (R. Vol. 3, pp. 131 - 148) as our response to the Appellant's First Assignment of Error. The Appellant killed his father "out of emotion," this "emotion" having been provoked by the Appellant's belief that his father considered him a sexual deviant. The defense was not to the effect that the Appellant was not in the heat of passion, as that phrase is defined in this State's law, but that the Appellant was legally insane at the time. There was but one issue in the case at bar, as the stipulations demonstrate, and that issue was the Appellant's

sanity.

The First Assignment of Error is without merit.

2. THAT THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR IN FINDING THAT THE APPELLANT DID NOT MEET THE *M'NAGHTEN* STANDARD

Where an issue regarding an accused's sanity at the time he committed a criminal act arises, the analysis availed of in Mississippi to resolve the issue is the *M'Naghten*² standard. This standard was set out recently by this Court in *Clemons v. State*, 952 So.2d 314 (Miss Ct. App. 2007):

In Mississippi, the question of whether a defendant in a criminal case was insane at the time of the offense is controlled by the *M'Naghten* test. *Woodham v. State*, 800 So.2d 1148, 1158 (Miss.2001). Under the *M'Naghten* test, it must be proved that at the time of committing the act the defendant "was laboring under such defect of reason from disease of the mind as (1) not to know the nature and quality of the act he was doing or (2) if he did know it, that he did not know that what he was doing was wrong." *Id.* The inquiry under this test is whether the defendant "did not know right from wrong at the time of committing the act." *Id.* It is presumed that the defendant is sane until there is a reasonable doubt regarding his or her sanity. *Taylor v. State*, 795 So.2d 512, 517 (Miss.2001). When such doubt is raised, the State bears the burden of proving the defendant's sanity beyond a reasonable doubt. *Id.*

Clemons, at 317.

The Appellant presented testimony to the effect that he had for many years suffered from Asperger's syndrome, a high - functioning form of autism. He had also been treated for symptoms associated with anxiety, attention deficit disorder and depression. He had been treated with various medications for these afflictions. The Appellant was not thought, prior to his shooting his father, to be a danger to himself or others. Asperger's syndrome is not a form of psychosis, though some of its sufferers are more at risk at having psychotic episodes.

The Appellant was irritable and suffered from insomnia in the week prior to the shooting.

² M'Naghten's Case, 8 Eng. Rep. 718 (1843).

His medication was changed, and within twenty - four hours he shot his father.

The Appellant's psychiatrist visited the Appellant while the Appellant was in jail. The Appellant was confused and was having hallucinations. The psychiatrist had never seen the Appellant in such a condition before. However, the Appellant did understand that he was in jail for having shot his father. The psychiatrist thought the Appellant grossly psychotic at the time of this visit. This meant that the Appellant was unable to distinguish between what was real and what was not real. The psychiatrist thought that the Appellant was becoming psychotic a week prior to the Appellant's father's death. The Appellant was placed on another medication.

After the Appellant was released from jail, he was immediately placed in a place known to the record as "Lakeside." He stayed there for some three months. His mental condition became improved, though the psychiatrist became of the opinion that the Appellant suffered from schizoaffective disorder. This disorder included symptoms of hallucinations and delusions.

The Appellant displayed "command hallucinations" after he killed his father. At the time he killed his father, the Appellant felt badly about his father. The Appellant felt his father thought him to be a sexual deviant. The psychiatrist thought these concerns were connected to the fact that the Appellant had been molested when he was much younger.

The psychiatrist's opinion as to whether the Appellant understood the nature and quality of his actions was that the Appellant always understood that he shot his father. However, he thought the Appellant was delusional and psychotic at the time he shot his father and that for that reason unable to understand the nature and quality of what he was doing.

The Appellant had no recurrence of delusions or hallucinations after he went to live with his mother.

The Appellant had never been diagnosed with a psychotic illness until after the shooting.

When the psychiatrist visited the Appellant in jail, the Appellant expressed remorse for having shot his father, even though he was said to be suffering from delusions and hallucinations at the time. While the Appellant was having "command hallucinations" while in jail, he did not indicate that he had such when he shot his father. This doctor had not listened to the 911 call. (R. Vol. 3, pp. 12 - 36).

Another psychiatrist was called by the defense, he having been retained for the purpose of determining the Appellant's mental status at the time of the shooting. This psychiatrist thought that the Appellant was suffering from paranoid thinking prior to the killing. The Appellant's though processes were highly confused and he was having "command hallucinations." These troubles were exacerbated by Asperger's syndrome. This psychiatrist did not think that the Appellant understood the nature and quality of his acts on the night the Appellant killed his father. The doctor had not listened to the 911 call. (R. Vol. 3, pp. 36 - 51).

A friend of the Appellant's family testified. She stated the Appellant and his father had a close relationship and that they spent a lot of time together. She saw the Appellant in jail. At that time the Appellant was talking to a wall. He asked her whether she heard the voices. The Appellant knew who she was and where he was. She saw the Appellant after he had been release from Lakeside and thought he was rather like he had been before he shot his father, only quieter and more subdued. She knew that the Appellant's father told her a week before the killing that the Appellant was having trouble sleeping and that things in the house were uneasy.

The Appellant was very sad about his father's death. He told this friend that he had been told that he had killed his father. (R. Vol. 3, pp. 51 - 60).

Two other family friends were called to testify. They testified as to the good relations between the Appellant and his father. They both testified that the Appellant's father told them

about the Appellant's inability to sleep during the week prior to the killing. (R. Vol. 3, pp. 60 - 82).

The trial court heard the taped 911 call and the statement given by the Appellant. The Appellant made the 911 call and reported that his father had a gunshot wound. The Appellant stated that he had shot his father and gave his home address. The Appellant was instructed to apply pressure to the wound, which he appeared to do. The Appellant was able to answer questions from the dispatcher and his father and he followed the instructions given to him. (R. Vol. 1, pg. 140).

During the interview with law enforcement, the Appellant cried when he was told that his father was dead. He admitted having shot his father. The Appellant was concerned about having an attorney, and he was concerned about an audio tape recorder. The Appellant stated that he was having problems with insomnia. He reported that someone had given him "truth serum." The Appellant told the officers that he was tired, upset with himself and sad and that he did not know what he did. The officers, noting the Appellant concern with the tape recorder, told him that such concern indicated to them that he was conscious of what he was saying and was thinking through what he was going to say. (R. Vol. 1, pp. 141 - 143).

The Appellant had several books on forensics and crime scenes in his bedroom. One book was particularly significant since the detective who saw them had the same book in his office. (R. Vol. 3, pp. 82 - 93).

The State then presented the testimony of a clinical psychologist. He stated that he had reviewed the Appellant's psychiatric records and evaluations, the Appellant's statement to the sheriff's department, the 911 transcript and the records from the mental institution the Appellant was placed in. He also personally evaluated the Appellant. It was the opinion of the

psychologist that the Appellant was aware of the nature and quality of his actions when he shot his father. The Appellant had indicated to the psychologist that he did get his gun and then entered his father's room and did shoot his father. The Appellant was familiar with guns. The transcript of the 911 call clearly indicated that he knew what was going on: the Appellant was upset and disturbed by his actions. The tape of the interview at the sheriff's department further indicated that the Appellant knew what he had done and knew what he had done was wrong.

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